I. INTRODUCTION 

On February 28,2010, two-year old Malia Grantor was seriously 

injured at a Big Lots store in Burien, Washington when an assistant 

manager at the store knocked some heavy boxes onto her, slamming the 

little girl face first into a metal shelving unit. On the day of the injury, the 

store gave plaintiffs/appellants Malia Grantor, and her mother, Marcy 

Grantor, (collectively the "Grantors") a card identifYing Big Lots, Inc. (the 

parent company) as the corporate entity. When the Grantors contacted the 

Columbus, Ohio address on that card, and sent a draft complaint naming 

the entity on that card, Big Lots responded through one of its wholly 

owned subsidiaries, Big Lots Stores, Inc., attempted to negotiate a 

settlement, and directed the Grantors to the registered agent for service of 

process. Throughout these communications, Big Lots never told the 

Grantors that Big Lots, Inc. (the parent company) was the wrong entity. 

Yet, when the Grantors personally served their complaint naming 

Big Lots, Inc., Big Lots simply ignored the suit until the Grantors finally 

obtained a default judgment. At that time, Big Lots and its subsidiaries 

had, for over two years, followed a deliberate policy of ignoring process 

containing misnomers and even slight spelling errors in their corporate 

names. Although Big Lots knew at the time that plaintiffs frequently 

named the wrong Big Lots entity in complaints, Big Lots had expressly 
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instructed its registered agent not to notify its headquarters officers of 

such process. 

On Big Lots' motion to vacate the order of default and default 

judgment, the court first held that service was effective notwithstanding 

the misnomer and revised the caption to name the subsidiaries as specified 

by Big Lots. See Entranco Engineers v. Envirodyne, Inc., 34 Wn. App. 

503, 505-06 (1983) (misnomer does not defeat service where as here the 

correct defendant's agent is properly served and the body of the complaint 

identifies the correct party). The court also found that Big Lots' policy 

and instructions had caused its failure to appear and the resulting default 

judgment. And finally, the court found that Big Lots had failed to present 

any evidence "whatsoever" in support of even a prima facie defense or 

diminution of damages. Given these findings, Big Lots could not meet the 

test to vacate the default judgment as a matter of law. 

The court nonetheless vacated the default judgment finding, in 

relevant part, that Big Lots did not have "actual notice" of the suit because 

of its instructions to the registered agent, and that the misnomer in the 

caption and Big Lots' instructions to its registered agent constituted 

excusable neglect. These holdings, and vacating the order of default and 

the default judgment on these bases, were in direct contravention of 

established law, and a clear abuse of discretion. 
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First, knowledge is not the equivalent of notice. Because service 

was effective, and because Washington' s statutory scheme specifically 

provides that service upon the registered agent is service on to the 

corporation, Big Lots had actual "notice" regardless of whether its agent 

notified its headquarters officers about the complaint. 

Second, a defendant must - at a minimum - present substantial 

evidence of at least a prima facie defense in order to vacate a default 

judgment. As Big Lots utterly failed to present any such evidence, it was 

clear error of law and thus an abuse of discretion to vacate the default 

order and judgment. 

Third, Big Lots' failure to appear was caused by its own 

affirmative policy choice and express instructions to its registered agent. 

Such a deliberate decision to avoid judicial process cannot constitute 

excusable neglect as a matter of law. Indeed, even if Big Lots' policy and 

instructions had not been a deliberate choice - though Big Lots admits 

they were and the court so found - the failure of a registered agent to 

notify a corporate officer of process also cannot be either mistake or 

excusable neglect justifying vacation of a default order or judgment. 

Accordingly, the Grantors respectfully submit that this Court 

should reverse those portions of the superior court's order identified in the 

assignments of error. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignment ofEITor No. 1: The court abused its discretion by holding 

that: "Neither Big Lots, Inc. nor Big Lots, Stores, Inc. had actual notice of 

the commencement of this suit," CP 503 at CoL No.3., and by vacating 

the default order and judgment based on this holding. 

Specific knowledge is not required for notice. Because service of 

the complaint was effective notwithstanding the misnomer in the caption, 

CP 500-04 at FoF No.4 & CoL No.2, and because service upon the 

registered agent is service upon the corporation, Big Lots had actual notice 

of the complaint 

Assignment ofEITor No. 2: The court abused its discretion by vacating 

the default order and judgment after holding that Big Lots had not 

"submitted or identified any evidence supporting a prima facie defense to 

the Grantors' claims, although potential defenses were identified." CP 

500-04 at FoF No. 9 & Order A; RP, v.II (Sept. 16,2011) at 20:22-24, 

47:20-22. 

The test for vacating a default judgment requires a showing of both 

excusable neglect and evidence supporting a meritorious defense. A 

defendant cannot satisfy this test where it presents no evidence supporting 

a prima facie defense. 
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Assignment of Error No.3: The court abused its discretion by holding 

that: "Big Lots, Inc.' s and/or Big Lots Stores, Inc.' s failure to appear was 

excusable neglect under CR 60(b) because of the misnomer in the caption 

and because of Big Lots Stores, Inc.' s instruction to its registered agent," 

and by vacating the default order and judgment based on this holding. CP 

500-04 at CoL No.4.; RP, v. II (Sept. 16,2011) 50:15-18. 

The misnomer in the caption was caused by Big Lots, and 

therefore cannot have constituted excusable neglect by Big Lots. RP, v. II 

(Sept. 16,2011) at 39:14-23, 48:21-22. In addition, Big Lots did not rely 

upon the misnomer as a reason for failing to appear. Big Lots' failure to 

appear was caused by its policy and instructions to its registered agent not 

to notify Big Lots' headquarters of complaints containing name variations. 

CP 500-04 at Findings of Fact Nos. 5 & 6; RP, v.II (Sept. 16,2011) at 

40:11-12,48:23-49:2. Big Lots' policy choice and affirmative instructions 

to its registered agent constitute a deliberate decision to avoid judicial 

process, and cannot meet the test for excusable neglect. Even if Big Lots' 

instructions to its registered agent had not constituted such deliberate 

disregard, the failure of an agent to notify corporate headquarters of a 

complaint does not constitute excusable neglect as a matter of law. 

Assignment of Error No.4: The court abused its discretion by vacating 

the default order and judgment based on its in finding that: "Mistakes were 
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made by all parties from the commencement of the claim through the entry 

of the order of default and default judgment." CP 500-04 at CoL No.1. 

The court found that the misnomer in the caption was caused by 

Big Lots' mistake in identifying Big Lots, Inc. as the corporate entity. RP, 

v. II (Sept. 16,2011) at 39:14-23, 48:21-22. Other mistakes by the 

Grantors, if any, do not support a finding of excusable neglect by 

defendant Big Lots. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On February 29, 2008, Marcy Grantor and her then-two-year old 

daughter, Malia entered a Big Lots retail store in Burien, Washington. 

While the Grantors were shopping, a Big Lots assistant manager knocked 

over a stack of heavy boxes onto Malia from behind, slamming the little 

girl face first into a metal shelving unit. CP 41-89 at,-r,-r 3-12. Malia's 

face was cut to the bone, leaving a prominent and permanent facial scar, 

and subjecting her to significant future emotional distress and pain and 

suffering as well as medical costs to reduce the scar. Jd. at,-r,-r 13-26; CP 

90-101 at Ex. B. 

A. Big Lots Held Itself Out As the Correct Entity 

At the time of the incident on February 29,2009, the assistant 

manager at the Burien store gave Ms. Grantor a card for the company's 
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"Risk Management Department," identifying the corporate entity as "Big 

Lots, Inc." with an address of 300 Phillipi Road, Columbus, Ohio (the 

corporate headquarters of Big Lots, Inc.). CP 41-89 at ~ 11 & Ex. A; CP 

253-291 at Ex. A. At the hearing on its motion to vacate, Big Lots 

conceded that this same card "was in place for years and years and 

years." RP, v. II (Sept. 16,2011) at 15:5-10 (emphasis added). When the 

Grantors then contacted Big Lots at the address on that card, CP 253-291 

at ~ 3 & Ex. B, Big Lots responded through one of its wholly owned 

subsidiaries, Big Lots Stores, Inc., communicating with the Grantors' 

attorney via email and telephone, reviewing the Grantors' documentation, 

and offering a payment to settle plaintiffs claims. CP 253-291 at ~~ 3-5 

& Exs. B & C. 

In particular, on November 9, 2009, the Grantors emailed a draft 

complaint to Big Lots, which Big Lots acknowledged receiving. CP 253-

291 at ~ 5 & Ex. c.1. The caption of that draft complaint identified the 

defendant as "Big Lots, Inc," the same corporate name on the card the 

store had given to the Grantors and that had been "in place for years and 

years." Id. The body of the complaint also identified the specific Big Lots 

store at issue by number and address. Id. at ~ 5. Yet, Big Lots never 

disclosed to the Grantors any purported error in the corporate name. 

Instead, after receiving that draft complaint, Big Lots made a settlement 
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offer. Id. at Ex. D. When, after negotiations failed, the Grantors asked: 

"Who is Big Lot's agent for service of process in Washington?" !d. at ~ 6 

& Ex. D. Big Lots responded: "The agent is CSC, The United States 

Corporation Company 800-833-9848." CP 253-291 at ~ 6 & Ex. D. 

Throughout the parties' communications before suit was filed and 

served (there were none after until the default judgment) defendant held 

itself out simply as Big Lots and never gave the Grantors any indication 

that: (a) only a subsidiary, and not the parent, was the proper entity, (b) the 

draft complaint identified the wrong entity, or (c) service of the complaint 

on Big Lots, Inc. would somehow be improper. !d. at ~~ 8-12. 

B. The Grantors Properly Served the Complaint and Obtained a 
Default Judgment When Big Lots Failed to Appear 

The Grantors filed their complaint on February 26, 2010. See CP 

1-4. The caption of the complaint was identical to the draft that the 

Grantors had earlier sent to Big Lots, naming Big Lots, Inc. as the 

defendant. See id. at 1. On March 1, 2010, as instructed by Big Lots, the 

Grantors personally served the complaint and summons on Corporation 

Services Company ("CSC"), and filed the affidavit of service. See CP 5-6. 

CSC was the registered agent for Big Lots' wholly owned subsidiaries 

operating in Washington, Big Lots Stores, Inc. and PNS Stores, Inc. See 

CP 253-291 at Exs. E & I. Just as in the draft, the final complaint also 
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specifically alleged that the events giving rise to the Grantors' claims 

occurred at "Big Lots store No. 4436 at 125 B 148th St., Burien, 

Washington, 98148." See CP 1-4 at ~ 5. 

Despite having held itself out as the correct entity and specifying 

its agent for service, Big Lots simply ignored the complaint: (a) never 

making an appearance or filing an answer; (b) never indicating its intent to 

defend or recognize the action as in court; and (c) never attempting to 

contact the Grantors before entry of default. See CP 255 at ~ 9. 

When Big Lots failed to appear, the Grantors obtained an order of 

default and a default judgment. See CP 25-26, 104-08. Both the order of 

default and the default judgment were supported by substantial evidence, 

including substantial evidence of damages, including plaintiff Marcy 

Grantor's declaration and the declaration and report of an expert witness. 

See CP 14-24,31-40,41-89 (Marcy Grantor Decl.) at ~~ 8-9,12-15,18, 

22-26, and CP 90-101 (Haeck Md. Decl.). 

C. Big Lots Instructed its Agent Not to Notify its Headquarters of 
Complaints With Any Form of Name Variation 

Big Lots, Inc. is a holding company with two wholly-owned 

subsidiaries in Washington named Big Lots Stores, Inc. and PNS Stores, 

Inc. (collectively "Big Lots"). See CP 253-291 at Ex. K at Ex. 21; CP 

134-135 at ~~ 4-5 . In moving to vacate the default judgment, Big Lots 
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(appearing through Big Lots Stores, Inc.) for the first time disclosed that 

the Burien store was "operated" by PNS Stores, Inc., and argued that PNS 

was the only proper defendant and that the parent company, Big Lots, Inc., 

could not be sued in Washington. l Big Lots' arguments, however, were 

directly contradicted by the record. 

Big Lots' sworn filings with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission specifically stated that "Big Lots," rather than any of its 

subsidiaries, had fully 21 stores in Washington. CP 253-291 at Ex. Kat 3. 

The subsidiaries hold these 21 stores out to the public simply as "Big 

Lots" stores. For example a search using the "Store Locator" on Big Lots' 

website, identifies the Burien store as a "Big Lots" store. See CP 253-291 

at Ex. G. 

Indeed, both subsidiaries have the same: (1) corporate offices, (2) 

top officers and directors, and (3) registered agent in Washington. 

Schwartz Decl., Exs. K, H , & I. In particular, the Big Lots' attorneys 

responsible for service of process were directly controlled by the parent 

company, Big Lots, Inc. For example, the attorney for Big Lots Stores, 

Inc. that testified in support of Big Lots' motion to vacate the default was 

"staff counsel" to both PNS and Big Lots Stores. CP 134-35 at,-r 2. He 

I PNS Stores, Inc. later stipulated to substitute into the action. See RP, v.I (July 
22,2011) at 38:4-10. Thus all three Big Lots entities are referred to collectively 
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and the other attorneys for Big Lots ' subsidiaries in Washington work at 

the corporate headquarters of the parent company, Big Lots, Inc., in 

Columbus, Ohio and reported to counsel for the parent company in the 

same office. CP 332-365 at Ex. M (Big Lots' Depo.) at 7:20-8 :14, 14:19-

15:22. 

Big Lots nonetheless argued that its failure to appear should be 

excused because registered agent did not notify the lawyers for Big Lots 

Washington subsidiaries about the service. Big Lots argued this failure 

was due solely to the misnomer in the caption. As noted below, the court 

found that this misnomer was caused by the card Big Lots gave to the 

Grantors. RP, v. II (Sept. 16,2011) at 39:14-23, 48:21-22. Moreover, 

after limited discovery as to the reasons for the agent's failure to notify 

Big Lots, Big Lots and its registered agent admitted that the sole reason 

CSC did not notify Big Lots' headquarters about the Grantors ' complaint 

was that Big Lots had specifically instructed CSC not to notify it about 

complaints containing any variation in Big Lots' name, regardless of 

how slight. Specifically: 

CSC testified that ordinarily service on it as a company's 

registered agent constitutes service upon the company. CP 332-65 at Ex. 

L (CSC Depo.) at 12:19-13 :1. As to an error or misnomer in a corporate 

herein as "Big Lots." 
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defendant's name, which CSC terms a "name variation," CSC would 

follow its client's instructions. CP 332-65 at 34:14-35:9, 35:22-36:3. 

Absent such instructions, however, CSC's ordinary practice was to notify 

its corporate clients about service. CP 332-65 at Ex. L at 37:15-22. 

Here, CSC's client contact for Big Lots Stores, Inc. was Chad 

Reynolds, an attorney for the parent company, Big Lots, Inc. Mr. 

Reynolds' office was at Big Lots' corporate headquarters, 300 Phillipi Rd. 

in Columbus, Ohio, where he supervised the staff counsel for both Big 

Lots Stores and PNS Stores, and the Big Lots' employees responsible for 

responding to service of process. CP 332-65 at Ex. M (Big Lots' Depo.) 

at 7:20-8:14,14:19-15:22. This is the same address on the card Big Lots 

gave to the Grantors at the time of the incident. CP 259. Thus, had the 

registered agent followed its normal protocol, the Grantors' complaint 

would have been sent to both the parent, Big Lots, Inc. and the subsidiary, 

Big Lots Stores, Inc. 

Over the past several years, some 20 to 30 complaints against Big 

Lots have named the wrong subsidiary in the caption. CP 332-65 at Ex. M 

(Big Lots Depo.) at 52:5-53:15. Yet, at the time the Grantors served their 

complaint on March 1, 2010, Big Lots' express instruction to CSC, had, 

for over two years, been to "reject all documents that are served on a 

name variation." CP 332-65 at Ex. N; id. at Ex. M (Big Lots Depo.) at 
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12:9-16,19:9-18,20:22-21:3,22:14-18,25:8-13; id. at Ex. L (CSC Depo.) 

at 44:7-18? 

Big Lots further admits that the instruction not to notify it applied 

to any variation in its name, no matter how slight. For example, Big Lots 

did not want to be notified by CSC if a complaint misspelled its name as 

"B-a-g Lots," or "Big Lot" in the singular, rather than Big Lots. CP 332-

65 at Ex. M (Big Lots Depo.) at 28: 1 0-25,29:8-21,30: 18-24. CSC 

testified that the instruction in its records regarding Big Lots could only 

have come from Big Lots itself. Id. at Ex. L (CSC Depo.) at 39:9-15, 

45:1-4. Thus, when CSC was served with the Grantors' complaint on 

March 1, 2010, it followed Big Lots' instruction and did not notify Big 

Lots' headquarters of the suit. Id. at Ex. L (CSC Depo.) at 32:4-33:15. 

2 CSC did not "reject" service. Instead, it accepted service, saying nothing at the 
time about any error in the corporate name. CP 366-373 (Nervik Decl.) at ~~ 4-6; 
CP 332-65 at Ex. M (Big Lots Deposition) at 46:3-13; see also RP (July 22, 
2011) at 14:22-24, 15: 12-14. One year later, the agent provided Big Lots with a 
purported letter to the Grantors' counsel purporting to reject service on March 2, 
2010, the day after accepting service. CP 136-39 at Ex. 1. Even assuming such a 
document was actually sent, however, it was never received by the Grantors' 
counsel until after the Grantors served the default judgment on Big Lots Stores, 
Inc. a year later. CP 255 at ~ 10. Moreover, the letter - which is automated -
has the word "null" in the top right comer. See id. In fact, CSC's transaction 
detail for the purported Rejection of Service shows that the "primary delivery 
method" was by "messenger," and that there was no "secondary delivery 
method." CP 332-65 at Ex. P (emphasis added). Yet, CSC did not maintain a 
hard copy ofthe document and has no document confirming that it was actually 
sent or delivered by messenger or any other means, CP 332-65 at Ex. L (CSC 
Depo.) at 53: 15-18, 54: 1 0-15, which explains why the purported Rejection of 
Service states that it is "null" and why the Grantors' counsel never received such 
a letter. 
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Moreover, absent specific instructions from a client, CSC did in 

fact notify its corporate clients about such name variations. CP 332-65 at 

37:15-22. And as noted, CSC's primary client contact for service of 

complaints was Chad Reynolds of "Big Lots, Inc." Id. at 48:25-49:4 & Ex. 

O. Thus, ifnot for Big Lots' express instruction, CSC would have notified 

Big Lots of the Grantors' complaint in 2010. Id. at Ex. L (CSC Depo.) at 

27:7-15,31:18-32:3. 

Significantly, Big Lots changed its instruction to CSC in June 

2010, after the Grantors served the complaint in this action, such that CSC 

would notify Big Lots Headquarters of complaints containing name 

variations. Id., Ex. M (Big Lots Depo.) at 25:14-15,26:9-15,57:14-21. 

But at the time of the Grantors' service on CSC on March 1,2010, Big 

Lots' only instruction to CSC was not to notify Big Lots. Id. at 27:9-16. 

D. The Court Vacated the Default Order and Judgment 

On Big Lots' motion to vacate the default order and judgment, the 

court found that the Grantors' personal service on the registered agent for 

Big Lots Stores, one of the subsidiaries, was effective notwithstanding the 

misnomer. CP 502-03 at FoF No.4 & CoL No.2. Accordingly, pursuant 

to CR 60(a), the court revised the caption to identify the corporate names 

of the subsidiaries as specified by Big Lots. CP 503, Order D. 
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The court also found that Big Lots had "instructed its registered 

agent not to notify it of service where there was any variation in its 

name," and that this instruction was the neither the agent failed to tell 

either the parent or the subsidiary about the Grantors' complaint. CP 500-

04 at Findings of Fact Nos. 5 & 6. Finally, the court found that: "Big Lots 

Stores, Inc. has not submitted or identified any evidence supporting a 

prima facie defense to plaintiffs' claims." !d. at Findings of Fact No.9. 

Despite these findings, the court nonetheless vacated the default 

judgment and order on the grounds that: 

(a) "Neither Big Lots, Inc. nor Big Lots, Stores, Inc. had actual 

notice of the commencement of this suit." CP 500-04 at CoL No.3. 

(b) "Big Lots, Inc.'s and/or Big Lots Stores, Inc.'s failure to appear 

was excusable neglect under CR 60(b) because of the misnomer in the 

caption and because of Big Lots Stores, Inc.'s instruction to its registered 

agent." CP 500-04 at CoL No.4. 

As set forth below, vacating the default order and judgment based 

on these holdings was directly contrary to long settled Washington law, 

and therefore an abuse of discretion.

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