NO. 67916-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARCY GRANTOR, an individual, individually and as Guardian ad Litem for Malia Grantor, a minor,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

BIG LOTS STORES, INC., an Ohio corporation, and PNS STORES, INC., a California corporation,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS

Tamara K. Nelson, WSBA #27679 Attorneys for Respondents/Cross-Appellants

MERRICK, HOFSTEDT & LINDSEY, P.S.

3101 Western Ave., Suite 200 Seattle, WA 98121

Telephone: (206) 682-0610 Facsimile: (206) 467-2689

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

Gerean, 108 Wn. App. 963, is also instructive, In that case the trial

held that proper service requires actual service on the defendant. There, the plaintiff delivered documents to defendant's parent at the parent's home when the defendant maintained his own separate home. was held insufficient, notwithstanding the fact that the defendant had actual notice, because the fortuitous delivery of process by the defendant's father did not constitute valid service.

In the instant case BLI, to who the process was directed was not properly served because CSC does not have authority to accept service for BLI in Washington. BLSI was likewise not properly served because there was never any process directed to BLSI. It is undisputed that CSC did not forward the Grantors' complaint. 23 Proper service of the summons and complaint is necessary to invoke the court's jurisdiction over a defendant.24 Neither BLI nor BLSI had notice of the pending lawsuit or that a default had been taken until it was served with notice of the executed judgments on May 31, 2011. Nothing in the pleadings suggested that the summons and complaint were intended for anyone other than BLI. BLI does not do business in the State of Washington. CSC had no authority to accept service for BLI. Thus, there can be no dispute that

²³ It is important to note that as Big Lots Stores, Inc. is a foreign corporation with no business in the State of Washington any attempts at in-state personal service automatically fail. 24 RCW 4.28.020.

process was never effectuated against BLI or BLSI occurred – fortuitous or otherwise – and the trial court properly concluded that "neither BLI nor BLSI had actual notice of the suit." CP 548-551.

4. BLSI Acted Diligently After Learning Of The Default, Appearing Within 10 days And Filing A Motion To Vacate A Within A Short Time Thereafter.

Where a defendant satisfies one of the *White* factors, a court may also analyze more closely the defendant's diligence in seeking to vacate the default. *White*, 73 Wn.2d at 353. BLSI resolutely believes that the deficiencies in service of process and its prima facie defense to Grantor's claims support the vacation of the default order and judgment, and thus the court need not analyze this factor. Regardless, here, BLSI's diligence in seeking to vacate the default judgment unquestionably supports the court's decision to vacate the judgment.

"Due diligence after discovery of a default judgment contemplates the prompt filing of a motion to vacate." *Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson,* 95 Wn. App. 231, 243, 974 P.2d 1275 (1999), *rev. denied,* 140 Wn.2d 1007 (2000). "[A] party that moves to vacate a default judgment within one month of notice satisfies CR 60(b)'s diligence prong." *Gutz v. Johnson, 128 Wn. App. 901,* 919, 117 P.3d 390 (2005); see also Boss Logger, Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 93 Wn. App. 682, 689-90, 970 P.2d 755 (1998) (defendant was

diligent where counsel appeared eight days after first receiving notice of default and moved to vacate two weeks after notice).

BLSI appeared the day after it learned of the default judgment. CP 139-140. Less than a week later, BLSI, through its counsel contacted the Grantors regarding the multiple errors in the default judgment, and requested that the judgment be vacated voluntarily. CP 287-288. Unable to resolve the issues between the parties, BLSI was forced to file a motion to vacate the default order and judgment just a few weeks later. CP 163-175. Thus, BLSI was more than diligent in seeking to vacate the default judgment.

5. The Grantor's Would Not Suffer Substantial Hardship From Vacating The Default.

"The possibility of a trial is an insufficient basis for the court to find substantial hardship on the non-moving party." *Gutz, 128* Wn. App. at 920. If there is prejudice from having to pay attorney's fees, the court may award the plaintiff her fees associated with vacating the default. *Berger v. Dishman Dodge, Inc.,* 50 Wn. App. 309, 313, 748 P.2d 241 (1987); *Graves v. P. J. Taggares Co.,* 94 Wn.2d 298, 306, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980); *White,* 73 Wn.2d at 357. If such fees are awarded, there is no prejudice to support maintaining the default. *Berger,* 50 Wn. App. at 313.

The only prejudice to be suffered in this case is if the default order

and judgment are not set aside. It is the policy of the law that controversies be decided on their merits, and allowing the default and judgment to stand here would not only contravene that public policy, it would result in *almost a quarter of a million dollars' worth of prejudice* to BLSI because it was not afforded opportunity to defend itself. One need look no further than the Grantors' re-filed 2011 case to discern that they anticipated the default judgment being set aside, and prepared for that contingency. Accordingly, it cannot credibly be argued that Plaintiffs' would suffer a substantial hardship in being required to prove their case.

B. THE TRIAL COURT EXCEEDED ITS DISCRETION IN SUA SPONTE AWARDING \$10,000 IN TERMS AGAINST BIG LOTS STORES, INC.

BLSI recognizes that the trial court enjoys broad, equitable discretion to impose "such terms as are just" when vacating a judgment under CR 60(b).²⁵ A trial court "may award terms to either a moving or opposing party when considering a motion to set aside a default judgment. The rule is equitable in nature and gives the trial court liberal discretion to 'preserve substantial rights and do justice between the parties." *Housing Auth. v. Newbigging*, 105 Wn. App. 178, 192, 19 P.3d 1081 (2001)(internal quotation omitted).

²⁵ CR 60(b) provides in pertinent part: "On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding[.]"

However, BLSI respectfully submits that the trial court exceeded the bounds of its discretion in several respects when it sua sponte awarded the Grantors \$10,000 in terms:

- (1) the trial court improperly granted the sanction sua sponte;
- (2) the facts and circumstances did not warrant sanctions against BLSI particularly when the court found that the Grantors played an essentially equal hand in "mistakes" which led to the default judgment; and
- (3) the \$10,000 award for attorney and expert fees is excessive and lacks any evidentiary basis in the record.

1. CR 60(b) Does Not Authorize A Court To Impose Terms Sua Sponte.

Nothing in CR 60(b) explicitly gives the trial court authority to impose terms sua sponte. Courts frequently do impose sanctions sua sponte for such transgressions as discovery violations under CR 26(g), frivolous pleadings under CR 11, and frivolous appeals under RAP 18.9. However, all of these rules specifically provide that the court may impose sanctions upon motion or "its own initiative." No such language appears in CR 60(b). BLSI respectfully submits that the court exceeded the bounds of its discretion by spontaneously awarding terms when no party had requested them.

2. The Facts And Circumstances Did Not Justify A One-Sided Imposition Of Terms Against Big Lots Stores, Inc., When The Trial Court Found That Both Sides Had Played A Role In "Mistakes" Which Led To The Default Judgment.

If the trial court had the explicit or inherent authority to impose terms sua sponte, the facts before the trial court did not provide sufficient justification for a one-sided imposition of terms against BLSI. The trial court's discretion to award terms under CR 60(b) is not unfettered. The court may impose terms only "if there is sufficient justification." Pamelin Indus., Inc. v. Sheen-U.S.A., Inc., 95 Wn.2d 398, 403, 622 P.2d 1270 (1981). In Knapp v. S. L. Savidge, 32 Wn. App. 754, 757, 649 P.2d 175, rev. denied, 98 Wn.2d 1005 (1982), this Court ruled that the trial court had abused its discretion when it imposed sanctions of \$1,000 on a plaintiff after vacating an order dismissing the plaintiff's case. The trial court had dismissed the plaintiff's case when the plaintiff was not in the courtroom when the case was called for trial. (He and his counsel showed up 35 minutes late.) Id., at 756-57. This Court ruled that "the facts before the trial court here do not provide sufficient justification for the imposition of terms." Id., at 757.

Here, the facts also did not provide sufficient justification for the imposition of terms. The court's findings of fact begin with the statement that "[m]istakes were made by all parties from the commencement of the

claim through the entry of the order of default and default judgment." CP 548-552. The pleadings and oral argument presented to the trial court clearly establish that the Grantors were abundantly cognizant of the errors at the time they sought the default, yet made no effort to correct the errors, resulting in a default against an unnamed party, who never received notice of the suit.

3. The \$10,000 Figure Is Arbitrary, Excessive, Lacks Any Basis In The Record, And Covers Fees Which The Grantors Would Have Incurred Regardless Of Any Default.

Because the Grantors never requested terms, the trial court's selection of \$10,000 as a sanction was necessarily speculative, a fact which the court readily stated. The court appeared to base this figure on its ballpark estimate of the Grantor's attorney and expert fees incurred in prosecuting the entire action up to that point, from the outset of the case all the way through the default judgment and the order setting it aside:

[T]he plaintiffs have been put to a substantial amount of difficulty because of a number of factors caused by decisions made independent of them, that they were put through a substantial amount of trouble in the matter that led to the judgment that I'm now vacating.

So the court is going to award \$10,000 as the costs of getting an expert, prosecuting the underlying case and having to do the work to defend in a set of mistakes primarily caused by the defendants in this matter.

RP 40-41.

The court then stated that it had no basis for calculating those attorney fees and expert costs. It invited the parties to submit "additional paperwork" on that subject:

So if somebody wants to present additional paperwork, if I have grossly exceeded a figure that you think is reasonable or if I've undervalued the amount of work that went into prosecuting the matter, before the motion for default and including the lots of extra work that has nothing to do with the lawsuit just to figure out the service issues, you can provide paperwork to me. But otherwise that is my order for today.

RP 41. Neither party submitted any "additional paperwork." The court's order vacating the default judgment, prepared by Grantor's counsel, states only that "Big Lots Stores, Inc. shall pay plaintiffs \$10,000 for attorney fees incurred in relation to the default judgment." CP 548-552. No findings of fact were entered with respect to this aspect of the order. The language of "attorney's fees" in the written order is inconsistent with the court's ruling from the bench:

The court is going to grant the motion. I think there has been -- I'll use the word loosely -- mistakes that created the mess that we have today. If I corrected the judgments, counsel would be back -- both counsel would be back promptly saying that of course Big Lots, Inc., never received it, they don't do business in Washington, he was not their registered agent and, you know, hopefully I would have a consistent ruling.

I'm going to award \$10,000 in terms to the plaintiff. I think the initial part of this snowball was the store itself that referred it to Big Lots, Inc. -- and again, I apologize. I don't mean to misspeak because we don't need any confusion on the record.

There is -- a few things are clear. There were discussions, negotiations. Whether settlement was achieved is not what's important. Plaintiff was on notice that Big Lots Stores, Inc., is different from Big Lots, Inc., despite the fact that they are related.

Again, the initial mistake was caused by the store. That's how it started, at Big Lots, Inc. But there's no question that before the summons was served on the registered agent there was information about Big Lots Stores, Inc. Both of them could have been sued. Again, internet research is powerful but has mistakes. We hold parties to a higher standard.

RP II, 37:23-38:23.

Although CR 60 grants the court broad discretion to impose terms when vacating a judgment, the court exceeded its discretion here when it awarded the Grantor's attorney and expert fees beyond those incurred in relation to the default judgment itself, and without any evidentiary basis in the record for calculating those fees. In the analogous CR 11 context, when a court awards attorney fees as a sanction, it must limit those fees to the amounts actually and reasonably expended in responding to the sanctionable filing. *In re Marriage of MacGibbon*, 139 Wn. App. 496,

510, 161 P.3d 441 (2007). Likewise, under CR 60(b), an award of terms for vacating a dismissal order must be related to the reasons for the dismissal order itself. *Knapp v. S. L. Savidge*, 32 Wn. App. 754, 757, 649 P.2d 175, rev. denied, 98 Wn.2d 1005 (1982).

Here, the court awarded \$10,000 "for attorney fees incurred in relation to the default judgment." CP 548-552. In its oral ruling, the trial court indicated that the \$10,000 went well beyond that, encompassing the Grantor's attorney and expert fees incurred in prosecuting the entire case, up through and including the order vacating the default. RP II 40:23-41:8. Many of these fees would presumably have been incurred even in the absence of a default. For example, the only "expert" in the case was Grantor's IME physician, who prepared a report on her damages. CP 105-116. Since a plaintiff bears the burden of proving damages in any civil case, the Grantors would presumably have incurred these expert fees regardless of any default. See Just Dirt, Inc. v. Knight Excavating, Inc., 138 Wn. App. 409, 437, 157 P.3d 431 (2007) (remanding CR 11 attorney fee award greater than amount requested by moving party, which encompassed "general trial preparation").

Moreover, in the absence of any findings of fact or evidentiary basis whatsoever, it is impossible to determine the amount of attorney or other fees "incurred in relation to the default judgment." The only evidence of Grantor's expenditures was \$336.06 in costs which she requested when obtaining the default judgment. CP 46-47. If this Court finds that an award of any terms was appropriate, then this Court should still remand this issue to the trial court for a calculation of those fees and costs reasonably incurred in connection with the default judgment only. While CR 60(b) appears to contemplate a manner of rough justice, imposing \$10,000 in terms was too rough for this case.

C. THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REVISING THE CAPTION OF PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT AS AGAINST BLSI AND PNS WHEN BLSI IS NOT A PROPER PARTY AND WHEN SERVICE WAS NEVER ATTEMPTED AGAINST PNS.

In opposing the motion to vacate, the Grantors also requested relief in the form of an amendment to the caption pursuant to CR 60, relying on *Entranco Eng'rs v. Envirodyne, Inc.* 34 Wn.App. 503, 662 P.2d 73 (1983). CP 338-351. The trial court did revise the caption as *Marcy Grantor et al v. Big Lots Stores, Inc. and PNS Stores. Inc.*; however, neither CR 60 nor *Entranco* provide for such revision.

In Entranco the complaint identified the parent corporation, but the plaintiff served the subsidiary. The opinion does not identify any dispute as to actual notice of suit as to both entities – which is not the fact pattern presented here. The plaintiff then sought, and obtained, a default judgment against the parent corporation, identified as the defendant in the suit. The parent corporation thereafter sought to have that default

judgment vacated, as it was not the correct defendant. Relying on the knowledge is the parties, the actual notice of suit, and the admission of the subsidiary that the complaint was directed to the parent corporation but served on the subsidiary, this Court allowed the plaintiff to amend the caption to identify the subsidiary – who had been served and had actual notice of the suit - as the proper judgment debtor. The default judgment against the parent corporation was dismissed. Ultimately the Court remanded the matter back to the trial court allowing the subsidiary to pursue its own motion to vacate. *Entranco*, 34 Wn.App. at 508.

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